

**Initial Steps in the Validation of the
Second Language Proficiency Descriptors for
Public High Schools, Colleges, and
Universities in California: Writing**

CSE Technical Report 497

Frances A. Butler

Robin Stevens

Center for the Study of Evaluation
University of California, Los Angeles

October 1998

National Center for Research on Evaluation,
Standards, and Student Testing (CRESST)
Center for the Study of Evaluation (CSE)
Graduate School of Education & Information Studies
University of California, Los Angeles
Los Angeles, CA 90095-1522
(310) 206-1532

Copyright © 1999 The Regents of the University of California

The work reported herein was supported in part by Orange Coast College through a joint faculty project grant from the Chancellor's Office of the California Community Colleges and by the Educational Research and Development Centers Program, PR/Award Number R305B60002, as administered by the Office of Educational Research and Improvement, U.S. Department of Education.

The opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the positions or policies of Orange Coast College or the Chancellor's Office of the California Community Colleges, nor do they reflect the positions or policies of the National Institute on Student Achievement, Curriculum, and Assessment, the Office of Educational Research and Improvement, or the U. S. Department of Education.

**INITIAL STEPS IN THE VALIDATION OF THE
SECOND LANGUAGE PROFICIENCY DESCRIPTORS FOR
PUBLIC HIGH SCHOOLS, COLLEGES, AND
UNIVERSITIES IN CALIFORNIA: WRITING¹**

Frances A. Butler

Robin Stevens

**Center for the Study of Evaluation
University of California, Los Angeles**

ABSTRACT

The need for empirical validation of a specific set of second language proficiency descriptors for the four skill areas—reading, writing, listening, and speaking—provided the impetus for the work described in this report. The UCLA Center for the Study of Evaluation developed a validation plan and undertook initial steps in the validation process with one skill area, writing. The process, which includes anchoring descriptor levels to student performance, involved the participation of writing experts from high schools, colleges, and universities across California. In addition, potential descriptor users from the same educational segments across the state were asked to help clarify descriptor applications. Work with the writing descriptors led to refinement of the validation process. The report includes a detailed description of that process and provides suggestions for steps that can be taken to validate the descriptors for reading, listening, and speaking.

¹ The support of many made the undertaking described in this report possible. Students, teachers, and site coordinators at high school, community college, California State University, and University of California campuses across the state willingly participated in this effort. The working group members of the English as a Second Language (ESL) Intersegmental Project made initial contacts at the campuses and provided additional contacts and other types of assistance as needed. Gari Browning and Julie Thornton read earlier drafts of this report and provided valuable comments. Judy Miyoshi at the UCLA Center for the Study of Evaluation provided administrative support and assisted with the organization of data collection. Katie Hutton, a student worker at UCLA, provided cheerful assistance to project staff. To all we express our sincere gratitude and appreciation.

We wish to express a special *thank you* to Jean Turner, a specialist in language testing at the Monterey Institute of International Studies, who served as advisor to the project. Her input and guidance at every stage contributed in large measure to our progress throughout. She helped shape the data analysis and provided insightful feedback on earlier drafts of this report.

Finally, we dedicate this work to the ESL students in California who face numerous linguistic challenges in their quest for an education. It is our hope that the effort described here will in some way facilitate their educational journeys.

Introduction

The study described in this report is the first step in a validation effort for the second language proficiency descriptors in *California Pathways: The Second Language Student in Public High Schools, Colleges, and Universities*.² The goal of this work is to empirically validate theoretically and experientially derived descriptors by characterizing the performance levels of writing proficiency through analysis of student writing samples. The current focus is on the writing descriptors with the intention that progress in this skill area will inform the validation process for use with the other skills.

The descriptors were developed for four language skills—reading, writing, listening, and speaking. They are intended to capture the full continuum of second language proficiency from rank beginner to learners who are indistinguishable from native speakers and are for use within and across all segments of the education system in California, from high school through college. More specifically, the descriptors give those who work with second language (L2) learners a common language to approach the following areas:

- discussing the continuum of L2 proficiency levels;
- developing or revising ESL curricula;
- evaluating [and developing] tests;
- interpreting courses within and across segments. (*California Pathways*, p. 77)

This range of potential uses highlights important application possibilities for the descriptors and underscores the need for assuring accuracy and validity of the descriptors vis à vis actual student performance. A plan for validating the descriptors was developed which provides an approach to anchoring the descriptor levels to student performance (Butler & Stevens, 1997).

Since guidelines do not exist for validating language proficiency descriptors of this kind, a major part of the work described in the plan involved developing and refining a validation process that can be used for the descriptors from all

² *California Pathways: The Second Language Student in Public High Schools, Colleges, and Universities*, henceforth in this report referred to as *California Pathways*, was written in 1995 by ESL Intersegmental Project members with funding from the California Community College Chancellor's Office, Intersegmental Joint Faculty Project.

four skill areas, noting that modifications may be needed for some steps in the process due to differences in modalities. For example, listening and reading performance will be more difficult to capture because these skills cannot be observed in isolation from others. It may be necessary to use established tests to help tap listening and reading ability. Irrespective of how performance is captured, to validate the descriptors, samples of language performance must be obtained for each skill area.

In order to develop and ultimately conduct the validation process for the descriptors from all of the skill areas as efficiently as possible, initial efforts have focused on writing. Writing was selected because it is often such a high-stakes skill for English as a second language (ESL) students, in terms of entrance to educational institutions, in terms of placement decisions, and for their own success. This report describes the steps taken in the validation process for the writing descriptors and, based on the findings of the study, provides suggestions for next steps toward final validation of the writing descriptors, as well as steps that can be taken to validate the descriptors for reading, listening, and speaking.

The validation study required that staff from the UCLA Center for the Study of Evaluation (CSE) be granted access to students and professionals across the four segments cited above. To assure this access, the same intersegmental project members who developed *California Pathways* and the language proficiency descriptors agreed to serve as a working group to provide support for specific validation tasks (see Appendix A for the members of the 1997-1998 working group).

Validation Issues

California Pathways was the guiding document for the validation plan and thus also for the work described in this report. It provided the initial foundation for the validation study through general discussion of how the proficiency descriptors might be used.

[The second language proficiency descriptors] give ESL specialists and others who are in contact with this population a way to connect the language education paths of a significant portion of California's students. (*California Pathways*, p. xxi)

Because a number of stakeholder groups may use the descriptors, it was critical to develop a better understanding of who those users are and what the descriptor

applications will be. *California Pathways* implies there may be multiple types of users from both inside and outside of the ESL field with a potentially wide range of needs; thus it was also critical to determine to what degree those users can apply the descriptors as currently configured and to what degree, if any, the language and structure of the descriptors need to be revisited.

Another important consideration in the user-descriptor picture is the comparability of the performance levels as currently described for all segments—high school, community college, California State University (CSU), and the University of California (UC). That is, do the descriptor levels carry the same meaning across segments and can the distinctions drawn by the current number of levels be identified clearly in student performance for the purposes intended by the users?

These validation issues helped to shape the methods used for conducting this study. The work carried out to date on validating the writing descriptors provides some answers to these questions, including how the descriptors might be used, who has a need for them, and how these two considerations should shape the language and organization of the descriptors.

The Validation Process for Writing

The process for validating the writing descriptors included interviews as well as traditional empirical methods. End users were interviewed to help clarify how the writing descriptors might be used across segments. Next four promising writing tasks were piloted with English language learners and native speakers at one school per segment which led to the selection of the two best tasks for use in a larger sample collection effort. Writing samples were then collected from students in all four segments across the proficiency range of beginning to advanced. A representative sample of papers was selected from the full range of classes and schools that participated. Two groups of ESL writing experts were asked to sort the selected writing samples into proficiency levels based on what they perceived to be the distinguishing differences in the quality of writing across the samples and to identify and describe the critical language features that define the levels established by the group. Exemplar papers were also identified for some of the levels by one of the groups. CSE staff compiled the results and then compared the levels and language features to the writing descriptors to help determine the appropriateness of the existing levels and the accuracy of the

language in the descriptors vis à vis actual samples of writing from the population to be served. A working group subcommittee sorted a set of the same writing samples into descriptor levels to provide additional information regarding the applicability of the descriptors to actual samples of student work. Finally, end users were asked to read a set of writing samples and assign each paper to one of the writing descriptor levels. The initial plan for each step in this process is discussed in Butler and Stevens (1997). The outcomes and findings for each step are discussed in turn below.

End-user Interviews

Clarification of descriptor applications has been an on-going process in this validation study and will continue to be in future efforts since, in order for the descriptors to be valid for particular uses, those uses need to be clearly articulated. To this end, nine potential end users from across the four segments were interviewed. Working group members helped to identify the participants. There were two participants each from the high school, community college, and CSU segments, and three from the UC segment. Four of the participants are currently teaching ESL students in addition to their other job duties. The others all fill administrative and counseling roles at their institutions (see Appendix B for a list of the participant job titles and schools). Each interview lasted approximately thirty minutes. The interview protocol consisted of nineteen questions, including five general questions and fourteen optional questions that were asked only if they were relevant to the participants' jobs (see Appendix C for the end-user interview protocol). The questions were designed to elicit data about the interviewees' job responsibilities related to ESL students, how they might use the descriptors in their work, and what their needs are regarding descriptors in other skill areas. Three key areas that emerged from the interviews are discussed below: need for the descriptors, descriptor uses, and proficiency levels.

Need for the descriptors. Data from the interviews indicated a serious need for a common framework such as the descriptors that allows people in a variety of educational occupations to speak with one another and with ESL students about ESL issues and needs. However, the usefulness of the descriptors is limited without language samples that illustrate each descriptor level, especially for people who are not considered ESL experts. A common language illustrated by concrete examples is clearly needed so that everyone has the same point of reference for discussing ESL proficiency issues. As it is now, each potential user

comes to the descriptors with a slightly different perspective regarding what they mean and how they should be interpreted.

Descriptor uses. The data from the interviews also provided evidence of the need for a tool, such as the descriptors, for articulation purposes. Since articulation had been named as a critical need by working group members, having it raised during the interviews by end users highlighted its importance. Interview participants felt that the descriptors should be used to correlate courses and/or course levels at each institution. They thought that a grid or comparability matrix showing which courses or course levels at one segment correspond to courses or course levels at another would be very useful to them in their everyday work.

Interviewees also noted a need for a tool which would help them discuss with ESL students individual student proficiency in terms of the English language skills needed to perform adequately in mainstream classes and in work environments. Participants often work with students directly in an advisory capacity and sometimes talk with parents or teachers about student performance levels and areas for student improvement. This need to discuss ESL proficiency relative to the proficiency of native speakers may be a major difference between the descriptor uses for ESL “experts” and “non-experts.” ESL experts may have a greater need to discuss ESL proficiency levels with respect to other ESL students while non-experts may need to discuss ESL proficiency levels with respect to the level of English needed to participate adequately in mainstream classes with native speakers of English.

Proficiency levels. A related issue raised during the interviews was the number of proficiency levels participants felt they would need for their work with ESL students. Four of the nine interviewees stated that between three and six levels are necessary. Two others did not specify the number of levels but felt finer distinctions are needed at lower levels of ability and fewer at the upper levels. One person felt that ten levels is adequate and the other two did not know how many levels would be needed. The uncertainty about the number of levels needed may, in part, reflect the different foci of the participants in working with ESL students. Because of differences in focus, a part of validating the descriptors for use by different populations may include establishing the number of levels that are necessary for specific “expert” and “non-expert” uses. The non-expert users may require fewer but wider bands of proficiency and/or special guidelines

for using the descriptors. It may be that these “bands” are the overarching range categories within which ESL experts will find the more specific subcategories needed for ESL purposes.

Identification of Writing Tasks and Collection of Writing Samples

To help validate the writing descriptors and anchor them to student performance, writing samples were collected across all four segments and levels of proficiency. To obtain the necessary samples of academic writing, existing writing tests, prompts, and tasks from each segment were reviewed for their potential effectiveness in allowing writers from a wide range of ability and from different segments to respond. Tasks that included reading material in addition to the directives, such as a paragraph or passage, were avoided to prevent comprehension problems with students who have differing levels of reading ability. A preliminary set of four tasks was selected and tried out with students across segments and levels to determine which two of the four would be most likely to produce the best range of writing samples during data collection for the validity study.

Writing samples were collected at one site per segment in four classes at each site—three ESL classes, beginning, intermediate, and advanced, and one English class that included native speakers and proficient non-native speakers. Approximately 300 samples were collected. Based on the results of the student writing obtained from the tasks, two of the four were selected for the larger sample-collection effort.

Minor modifications were made to the writing tasks and task directions based on the task trials. The two selected topics were the following:

Topic A

Choose two important people in your life, such as a teacher and a friend, two friends, or a relative and a classmate. Write an essay in which you discuss how they are similar and how they are different. Give specific examples.

Topic B

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

Topic A is a comparison/contrast task; Topic B is an analytic expository task. Both topics are considered academic in that they require students to use functions such

as analyze, explain, and compare to fulfill the task. However, both topics also allow for students to draw upon personal experience to justify, support, or generalize through the use of narrative. As Mlynarczyk (1991) notes, many of the functions used in personal writing such as narrative are also necessary in academic writing. In fact, the distinction between the two may be fine. Given this, and the need to limit the reading load, these two tasks were judged appropriate.

Using these two tasks, approximately 660 samples (330 per task) were collected for the full proficiency range across segments, including native speakers. Data collection sites included one school from each segment in both Southern California and Northern California (see Table 1). Packets of materials

Table 1
Sample Collection Plan

Class	Site			
	HS	CC	CSU	UC
Southern CA sites	(Site 1)	(Site 2)	(Site 3)	(Site 4)
Beginning ESL	21	14	16	10
Intermediate ESL	25	19	18	22
Advanced ESL	14	24	23	20
English*	98	13	24	25
Northern CA sites	(Site 5)	(Site 6)	(Site 7)	(Site 8)
Beginning ESL	22	21	13	7
Intermediate ESL	17	24	11	11
Advanced ESL	16	23	16	12
English	30	21	22	16

Note. HS = High school; CC = Community college; CSU = California State University; UC = University of California. In addition to the beginning through advanced ESL students, approximately 20 students from English classes that included native speakers and proficient non-native speakers were tested at each site. Total $N = 668$.

were mailed to a teacher or an administrator at each school who helped facilitate the sample collection. Each packet contained instructions and a task administration protocol for the teacher, student task booklets, and pens. Within

each class, students were randomly assigned one of the two selected tasks. They were given their normal class period to write on the task, usually between 45 and 50 minutes. Participation in the task was voluntary to meet University of California human subjects criteria. If students chose not to participate in the study, their teachers gave them an alternate non-graded task to complete. In general, across all segments, students were willing to participate when the purpose of the task was explained. All of the task materials were returned to CSE where the writing samples were reviewed and a range of representative samples was selected for the ESL writing expert sort described below.

ESL Writing Expert Sort

To examine the distinguishing characteristics of the descriptor levels, an iterative sorting process was conducted with ESL writing experts, two representatives from each segment. A similar process is discussed in Upshur and Turner (1995). The sort was conducted over a two-day period during which the eight representatives were split into two groups of four with one segment representative in each group. The expert sort was important because it was through this process that salient features of student writing critical to distinguishing group differences were identified.

The first step in the process involved having the experts in each group impressionistically and independently sort the samples into three broad levels of proficiency: beginning, intermediate, and advanced. They were then asked, as a group, to identify and describe the critical language features that enabled them to sort the papers into the three broad levels. In other words, they had to explain their rationale for placing a given paper at a particular level. The group members then tried to reach consensus on the papers they had placed into the three categories. One group was able to do this and the other group reached consensus on some of the papers and then moved on to the next step.

The groups were then asked to sort the papers into narrower levels of proficiency and, again, to articulate the critical language features that guided their sorting. The two groups produced a list of features for each of the levels they identified through the writing samples. CSE staff compared the two lists to one another and then to the descriptors to determine the degree of match.

Comparison of features from expert sort. A comparison of the sets of features generated by the two groups of ESL writing experts, each working with a

set of papers on a different topic, shows a high degree of similarity with regard to those elements of writing the experts perceived to be most salient in allowing them to distinguish the samples they examined. While the language used by the experts to identify the features was by no means identical for the two groups, CSE staff reorganized the level characteristics under general categories, such as *communicative success* and *organization*, which allowed for systematizing the features across the groups (see Appendix D for the two groups' language features by levels that were used for the comparisons). In some instances, the language used by one group is more precise and clearly stated than the other for a particular characteristic; regardless, the parallels between the two sets are striking.

Expert Group 1 identified eight or nine writing proficiency levels through the sorting process—three each for the low and mid ranges and two or three for the high range. Expert Group 2 identified seven or eight levels—three for low, two or three for the mid range, and two for high. The mid range was the most problematic for both groups in terms of their being able to articulate clear differences among the writing samples.

The two sets of features generated by the writing experts include for each of the three major ranges (low, mid, high): (a) a bulleted list of features at the top of the page that can be identified in all papers in that range; and (b) an additional set of subcategories. Group 1 first generated its list of features for each major range, and then generated new lists of features for each subcategory, independent of the range bullets. Thus, there is some overlap between the Group 1 range bullets and subcategory features. However, for Group 2, the bulleted points serve as a summary overview of the major range, and the statements for the subcategories provide the specificity for differentiating among them. A comparison of the groups' bulleted language features for the three major ranges and the subcategories shows commonalities in terms of categories and emphasis on categories within a range. Individual discussions of the three ranges follow.

In the low range, there are two key similarities: (a) the importance of *organization*, *communicative success*, and *length* in differentiating between papers; and (b) the lack of effectiveness when the groups attempted to quantify features as opposed to describing what is seen in a writing sample. *Organization* seems to be the feature that provides the most differentiation among the subcategories for the low range. The notions of “pre-paragraph” (from Group 1) and “emergent paragraph structure and emergent essay structure” (from Group

2) capture the developing organizational writing skills from Low Low to Low Mid to Low High. These notions are also present in Group 1's *length* category. Categories such as *structure and vocabulary*, while present in both groups' lists of features, seem to be less important at this range. The notion *communicative success* appears as a main category and feature for both groups but is not effectively articulated; for example, Group 2's description of *communicative success* for Low Mid and Low High respectively are "uneven comprehensibility" and "minimally comprehensible." The attempts at capturing differences for this characteristic are based on quantifiable rather than qualitative differences and may be less clear for this reason.

For the mid range, two important similarities emerged: (a) the groups articulated features that fell into the same exact categories; and (b) *organization* was an important distinguishing feature for both groups. The groups identified features that fell into the same categories: *communicative success*, *length*, *organization*, *structure*, and *vocabulary*. In the low and high ranges, the groups identified features that fell into at least one or more categories that do not overlap. *Structure*, while present in both, is not clearly described in either set of features. The notion of *communicative success* appears to be important for both groups at the mid range with primary focus on the impact of errors on comprehension. However, *organization* is the feature that provides the most differentiation among subcategories for the mid range, though the distinctions are not always clear. For both groups, the use of examples as a feature of *organization* was a key factor in capturing differences in the writing samples, as was the writer's ability to maintain focus.

The language features and categories in the high range again share similarities: (a) the emphasis on *organization* as a way to differentiate papers; and (b) the greater elaboration of *communicative success* and *vocabulary* at this range. *Communicative success*, *organization*, *structure*, and *vocabulary* all appear as strong characteristics for both groups at the high range. The statements in general are more positive and descriptive of what is seen in a sample. Though one group divided the high range into two subcategories and the other divided it into two or three, neither group felt that more than three levels were necessary to characterize the features of the writing samples used in the sort.

The participants in both groups felt the results of this sorting procedure were preliminary. Each group expressed the need for additional time and

samples to assure confidence in the number of levels and to refine the wording of the language features. While the discussion below involves revisiting both the features generated by the ESL writing experts and the current writing proficiency descriptors, having identified areas of overlap and similarity as well as gaps and differences between the groups' features and levels in this section will facilitate that process. A comparison of the language features to the current descriptors for writing follow.

Comparison of the descriptors to the expert levels. A comparison of the descriptors to the features generated by Groups 1 and 2 offers a contrast in perspective with regard to the nature of the descriptive information provided in each (see Appendix E for the reorganized version of the descriptors used for the comparison). While there is a high degree of overlap in the actual categories used in the descriptors and the two sets of writing features, especially at the intermediate (mid) and advanced (high) levels, there is an important difference in how the features are characterized. In general, the descriptors tend to quantify language features using qualifiers such as *some*, *often*, and *rarely* more frequently than the sets generated by the two groups who sorted the writing samples. That is, to a considerable extent, the descriptors base differences in proficiency on students being able to do more or less of something such as “can write on some concrete and familiar topics (Intermediate Low)” and “can write effectively about a variety of topics, both concrete and abstract (Advanced).” Although there is some quantification in the sets of features produced by the groups, the focus is generally on the description of what the group members actually saw in the writing samples such as “emergent paragraph structure, beginnings of relevant ideas present that could be developed (Low Mid, Group 2).”

The categories of *organization*, *structure*, and *vocabulary* appear across all levels of the descriptors and the groups' features, except the novice range in the descriptors. There are other categories of features, however, that lack the same high degree of consistency. Two categories that are present in the descriptors and not represented in either group's set of features are *writing skill* and *topics/task*. The categories *literacy* and *mechanics* are present only in the descriptors and Group 1's list of features. The category *L1* appears only in the Group 1 list. Overall, for Groups 1 and 2 and the descriptors, there is inconsistency in the use of the categories within levels and ranges. For example, in the descriptors,

vocabulary is not present in Novice Low, Novice Mid, or Superior, but appears in all other subcategories.

In the low range of the descriptors, there is an emphasis on *literacy* and *writing skill* that is not present in the two groups' sets of features. *Structure* and *communicative success* do not appear until Novice High and, more importantly, *organization* does not appear at all at the low level. However, this category is very important to Group 1 and 2 and is specified quite clearly in their sets of features. Another difference between the descriptors and the two sets is that *length* is similarly paced in the two groups' features such that by Low High, students are producing paragraph-level writing. However, in the descriptors, students can only "produce sentences and short phrases" at Novice High.

At the intermediate or mid range, two major differences emerge between the descriptors and the groups' features: (a) the absence of the category *communicative success*; and (b) the lack of development and specificity in the category *organization*. *Communicative success* was an important focus in the two groups' efforts to distinguish between papers; however, it is totally absent in the descriptors. Likewise, *organization* is a critical distinguishing feature for the two groups and is well-developed in both sets of features. In the descriptors for the intermediate range, however, *organization* is described identically across subcategories making it difficult to use this feature to distinguish papers from one another.

Intermediate Low: Demonstrates some evidence of organizational ability.

Intermediate Mid: Is able to organize and provide some support.

Intermediate High: Shows some ability to write organized and developed text.

Furthermore, in the lists of features for the two groups, focus on and development of theme/topic are important components of *organization*. However, in the descriptors, the category *topics/tasks* instead describes the types of topics and tasks a student can do, but does not address attention to task.

Finally another similarity between the descriptors and the two groups' lists of features at the intermediate range is an apparent difficulty in actually articulating features. In the descriptors, Intermediate Mid is the least developed mid-range subcategory, as is the Mid High category for Group 1 and the Mid Mid

category for Group 2. While there is some measure of agreement between the descriptors and the two groups' sets of features, in that there are three subcategories at the Mid range, there are clearly problems in describing the distinguishing characteristics.

In the high range (including Superior and Distinguished³), one of the most notable differences between the descriptors and the sets of features for Groups 1 and 2 is the number of levels. The two groups have two to three levels in the high range while the descriptors have four. In general, the descriptions of features in all three sets tend to be clearer and more specific at this range. However, one exception is that there are few distinguishing differences between the Advanced and Advanced High descriptors except the degree to which the features are evident in a paper or papers. In other words, one must differentiate between papers on the basis of quantity. Another major difference at the high range is the emphasis on audience and purpose in the descriptors. In the sets of features for the two groups, there is an emphasis on addressing the topic, but no mention of audience.

The findings from this comparison of the descriptors to the features generated by the two groups have raised specific issues regarding the language of the descriptors and the number of levels. These results, in addition to the lists of articulated features created by the ESL expert writing groups, should prove useful for refining the descriptors.

Working Group Subcommittee Sort with Original Descriptors

A subcommittee of the working group, one representative from each segment, attended a one-day meeting with CSE staff to assign writing samples to the descriptor levels (see Appendix F for the original descriptors). Since the working group members developed the descriptors, CSE staff felt valuable feedback would be obtained by having them assign writing samples to the levels they had defined. Fourteen samples representing a wide range of ability and each of the segments were selected from the group of papers read during the expert sorts described in the preceding section. The subcommittee read the set of

³ The distinguished level was included by the descriptor developers in recognition of there being non-native speakers as well as native speakers who reach a higher level of proficiency than would be represented in either an advanced ESL or mainstream English class.

samples, independently indicated the appropriate level, and made notes regarding problems in using the descriptors to separate the samples.

Although the task was not a “rating” task per se, going through the process of placing a paper into one of the descriptor levels is very similar to assigning a rating or score to a writing sample. As it turned out, the task was difficult for the group. There was no agreement on the placement of any one paper, and there were only four papers for which there was a majority agreement (3, 1). The group felt that all the mid range papers were difficult to place in part due to a lack of completeness about grammar and development in the descriptors. In addition, several other concerns about the descriptors surfaced, namely—issues dealing with descriptor use, the language of the descriptors, the organization of descriptor statements, and degree of specificity. A discussion of each one follows.

Descriptor use. The group experienced difficulty in trying to use the descriptors for the purpose of placing a single sample at a level. They felt that the descriptors are too general to be used for “ranking” a paper and should not be used as a scoring protocol; the descriptors characterize a writer, not a single paper, and thus seem to be most appropriate for use with a portfolio. Specifically, for most levels, the first bullet describes the range of writing types a student can produce. For example, at Intermediate Mid, the first bullet states *can write on some concrete and familiar topics*. For both Advanced High and Superior, bullet three refers to the writer as being able to *tailor writing to purpose and audience*. Multiple samples are needed to adequately assess the writer’s ability in this regard.

Descriptor language. The language of the descriptors also presented problems. Specific issues emerged regarding wording. For example, the relative amount captured by “limited” in *demonstrates limited control of sentence structure and punctuation to indicate sentence boundaries* (bullet three, Intermediate Mid) is not clearly differentiated from “some” in *displays some control of sentence structure and punctuation to indicate sentence boundaries, but often makes errors* (bullet four, Intermediate High). In Novice High, bullet four, one must determine if a writer is producing sentences and short phrases which have been *previously learned*. However, how does one differentiate between “previously learned” material and that which is not?

In Advanced High, the second bullet (*displays rhetorically effective organization and development*) and sixth bullet (*uses a variety of sentence structures for stylistic purposes*) are possibly redundant. Further, the group felt it was difficult to infer that the presence of a variety of sentence structures in a sample meant that the writer used them intentionally for stylistic purposes. As mentioned above in the comparison of the descriptors and the expert levels, the subcommittee members also found it difficult to distinguish between bullet two, Intermediate Mid (*is able to organize and provide some support*) and bullet two, Intermediate High (*shows some ability to write organized and developed text*). In addition, they felt that bullet two in Intermediate High is too low for that level.

Descriptor organization and emphasis on critical level features. As indicated in the example above, the group articulated a need to revisit the organization and ordering of descriptors within and across levels. Some bullets seem better placed in different levels. For example, the group felt that bullet four in Intermediate Low, *demonstrates some evidence of organizational ability*, should be placed higher within the descriptor because it is an important feature at that level. This implies that the order of the bullets in the descriptors may need to be adjusted to better reflect what is most critical at each level. Along these lines, the group raised the issue of how to judge samples in which writers “attempt” to use more challenging vocabulary and structures with varying degrees of success. In other words, how should the student’s willingness to take risks factor into judgments about the writing? The descriptors tend to note limitations of writers, not what they can do or attempt to do.

Limitations in descriptor specificity. The group identified several issues, including the role of sample length, response to topic, maturity of thought, and register, that they felt are not adequately addressed. Some descriptors are underspecified; for example, grammar at Intermediate Mid, in particular, is too vague. In fact, the group felt that the intermediate range is difficult to use in general because there is not enough detail built into the descriptors about development and grammar.

Another issue raised by the subcommittee regarding the lack of specificity in the descriptors is related to attention to task. It seemed to them that this feature became more important between the intermediate and advanced ranges, but the shift is not specified in the descriptors. There were writing samples that led them to consider the question: If the goal of responding to topic is put aside, could a

paper be assigned to a higher level? Another related consideration is the question of how papers should be evaluated, especially at the more advanced levels, if audience and purpose are not specified in the task. Thus, the relationship between task and the descriptors is an important one.

The working group subcommittee helped to verify important problem areas within the current writing descriptors that will require clarification and revision in the future. These problem areas have already been identified in part through the comparison of the descriptors to the products of the ESL writing expert sort. Issues related to purpose or use of the descriptors and the language of the descriptors will be revisited later in this report.

Expert and Non-expert End-user Sort

To examine the use of the descriptors for specific purposes by experts and non-experts, a user sort was conducted in which a subset of the samples sorted by the ESL experts was mailed to eleven potential users across segments. The packets included instructions, descriptors, writing samples, a descriptor placement worksheet, and a questionnaire. The participants were instructed to take two to four hours to complete the tasks and then to return the entire packet by mail. Ten packets were completed and returned to CSE. Brief phone interviews were conducted with seven of the participants afterwards.

Using the current writing descriptors, the participants assigned the samples to descriptor levels and completed a short questionnaire (see Appendix G). Users were asked questions such as the following:

1. How might you envision these descriptors being used at your institution? Who do you think would or should use them?
2. Were the descriptors easy or difficult for you to use?

Characteristics of the end users. Five of the participants were unfamiliar with the descriptors, two had heard of them, and three were very familiar (e.g., one of the three has used the descriptors in graduate courses on methods and curriculum design). Seven of the participants work with ESL students frequently as a part of their job responsibilities, including helping students with career and educational planning, and classroom instruction. Two participants work with students infrequently although they are responsible for program design and other similar duties that directly affect ESL students. The tenth participant is a

counseling assistant who occasionally works with ESL students who are communications studies and education majors. Participants' decision-making responsibilities regarding ESL students include school program management, instruction, evaluation, curriculum, and hiring qualified instructors.

Descriptor uses. The most frequently named potential use for the writing descriptors was placement (five of the ten participants). The following potential uses were each named once: classroom assessment, program evaluation, promotion, admissions, and as a reference document. Two participants thought use of the descriptors would be problematic and, for that reason, did not state any potential uses.

All but two of the participants thought descriptors for the other skill areas would be useful; in particular, for reading and speaking. No one specifically mentioned listening. The participants felt the descriptors would be useful for testing, admissions, curriculum, articulation, and to clarify program goals. Two of the participants stated that the descriptors should only be used if users were trained in how to apply them. One person felt they were of limited use and need more definition, and another stated that she has little need for them since her campus does not have an ESL program.

Six of the participants said they had problems assigning the writing samples to the descriptors, three felt they were easy to use, and one person felt that some descriptors were easier to use than others. Reasons given for their difficulties include: (a) the descriptors are not explicit enough; (b) definitions are needed for some of the terms used in the descriptors; (c) differences between the levels need to be more clearly delineated; and (d) a single writing sample is not sufficient for placement into levels above Intermediate High.

Participants comments regarding the descriptor levels and ranges include: (a) it was difficult to place papers into the Novice Low and Novice Mid levels; (b) indicators are generally weak at the intermediate range; (c) Intermediate Mid and Intermediate High are the most difficult levels to use; and (d) more than one sample is needed from each student to use levels above Intermediate High.

Phone-interview responses. Seven participants were asked two questions during a brief phone interview which was conducted after the packets were returned:

1. Do you have any recommendations for refining the descriptors to make them more user friendly?
2. Could you comment on the adequacy of the number of levels for use in your segment?

When asked the first question, most participants stated that they did not have much to add to what they had already noted on the end-user participant questionnaire. However, three of the seven participants interviewed strongly believe that the descriptors should be more specific, particularly if they are to be used with a single task. Two others asked which features take priority at different levels and if the priorities for these features vary from level to level.

When asked the second question, six of the participants felt that the current number of descriptor levels is adequate and necessary to address the range of students in their segment and others. One of the six felt initially that there were too many descriptors, but after assigning papers to them he found the number of levels to be adequate. The seventh person felt overwhelmed by the number of descriptors and did not feel that the distinctions between the levels were clear.

Assignment of descriptor levels to writing samples. The participants assigned descriptor levels to fourteen writing samples that had already been sorted into levels by the ESL writing experts and assigned to descriptor levels by the subcommittee members. No training was provided regarding the use of the descriptors. They were each given a Descriptor Worksheet (see Appendix H) on which they could note their placement of each paper and any comments they had on using the descriptors for this purpose.

There was close agreement on the assignment of several of the papers to the descriptor levels. In fact, when the end-user placements are combined with the subcommittee member placements, six papers emerge with very strong tendencies toward placement into a single descriptor level (5 to 7 participants of 14 in exact agreement and 4 to 8 participants with adjacent placements for these six papers). More exact placements might have been obtained if the users had received training. These six papers fell into the Novice High, Intermediate Low, Intermediate High, and Advanced categories (see Appendix I for the fourteen writing samples).

Participants expressed difficulty using some of the ranges, the intermediate range in particular. Placement of four of the six papers in the intermediate range

are problematic because they cluster on either Intermediate Low or High, but never on Intermediate Mid (e.g., 5 IL, 2 IM, 6 IH, and 1 A for paper #106). There seemed to be difficulty placing papers that fell into the advanced range and above. Placement of the papers into these levels spread out, almost equally in some cases, among the high level descriptors (e.g., 3 IH, 4 A, 3 AH, and 4 S for paper #586). Papers that fell into the novice, novice-intermediate, and intermediate-advanced ranges clustered logically around a single level with declining numbers of adjacent papers on each side (e.g., 3 IM, 5 IH, 5 A, 1 S for paper #306). These are the same levels with the highest degree of agreement among the participants regarding placement of papers. The high agreement may indicate that Novice High, Intermediate Low, Intermediate High, and Advanced are currently the most clearly defined levels.

Participants' comments on the Descriptor Worksheet generally indicated the features of the papers and/or descriptors used to place the papers into levels. There were also several comments regarding the short length of three papers and how difficult the reduced length made it to use the descriptors to place these papers. One participant stated that length deserved mention although including the feature in the descriptors could "muddy the reader's evaluation." One participant questioned whether "integrating source material," which appears in the advanced range and above, is the same as "uses appropriate examples" (in samples that are obtained in this way, e.g., timed responses) in the low and intermediate ranges.

Other comments included: (a) it is difficult to place papers in the intermediate range; (b) it is difficult to distinguish between Intermediate High and Advanced; (c) there seems to be a big step between Intermediate High and Advanced; and (d) terminology needs to be defined (e.g., concrete, familiar, personal).

Suggestions for Next Steps

The findings of this study clearly indicate a range of needs by professionals who work with ESL students for a tool such as the descriptors. Instructors view the descriptors as an instrument for classroom instruction and curriculum development. Career and educational counselors think of them in terms of admissions criteria, articulation, and progress indicators for goal setting, particularly with regard to the students' need to perform at native-speaker levels

in order to take mainstream courses, graduate, and so forth. Program managers think of the descriptors in terms of assessment needs, curriculum, and articulation between schools and segments. All of these expressed uses are important and should be acknowledged; however, one set of descriptors cannot validly fulfill so many needs at once. Furthermore, because the descriptors were developed to capture proficiency levels in a general sense, the levels are not currently defined in enough detail for application across the range of uses identified in this study. Thus important decisions and revisions should be made prior to the final validation of the writing descriptors and the validation of the descriptors for the other skill areas. On the basis of the results of this study, suggested decision-making and revision guidelines for next steps are provided below.

Considerations for Revision of the Writing Descriptors

Three major considerations critical to the continued validation of the writing descriptors emerged from this study: range of descriptor uses, refinement of descriptor levels, and clarity in descriptor content, including organization and language. These considerations will be critical in the validation of the other skill areas as well. Each is discussed in turn followed by suggested next steps for validation of the writing descriptors and suggested steps for validation of the descriptors for the other skill areas.

Descriptor uses. Critical to the validation of the writing descriptors and the validation of the descriptors for the other skill areas is determining for whom the descriptors are intended and how they will be used. An issue that was raised repeatedly in this study was the question of how the current descriptors can be used to “rank” a single paper. As they are written, the uses are limited to and only appropriate for classroom assessment, curriculum development, and possibly promotion or exit assessment—situations that provide multiple samples of a students’ work such as a student portfolio.

One recommendation regarding descriptor uses involves validating the descriptors for two or three specific, critical uses. The most critical uses identified in this study are: articulation within and across segments, classroom assessment, curriculum development, and placement testing. Although changes to the descriptors are needed to assure their effective use, they are already oriented towards describing a student rather than a writing sample; thus it seems

appropriate given that focus to begin by validating them for articulation and the two classroom-related uses mentioned above, classroom assessment and curriculum development. Using the descriptors with placement tests will likely involve extensive revisions to the language of the descriptors including reorientation towards a single writing sample. Validating the descriptors for these different uses may result in sets of related but different descriptors and/or different sets of guidelines for use. After determining which uses the descriptors will be validated for, the descriptors should be modified accordingly.

Other descriptor uses will require additional validation considerations. For example, to validate the descriptors for use in counseling situations, the issue of relating a student's English proficiency level to the English proficiency level necessary to take mainstream classes with native speakers of English must be addressed. Counselors should be able to inform and advise students about the level at which they need to perform in order to participate in mainstream classes. Their needs are different from ESL experts in that they view an ESL student's performance with respect to the levels of proficiency necessary to participate in mainstream classes. Thus, designating a target proficiency level vis à vis the descriptors would be necessary. Specific cutoff levels may also be necessary for placement testing, since placement tests may need to differentiate between students who require services and those who do not.

Descriptor levels. Although end users in this study did not use all the descriptors, they were generally comfortable with the current number of levels when they used the descriptors to place papers. However, in earlier phone interviews, some end users indicated that fewer levels are necessary, particularly at the higher ranges (Advanced through Distinguished). This potential need for fewer levels was partially confirmed during the expert sorting process. As noted earlier, one expert group arrived at seven to eight levels, and the other group arrived at eight to nine levels. In both cases, the groups had fewer levels in the advanced range than the descriptors do. This may have been a function of the available writing samples. Regardless, the number of levels present in a set of validated descriptors should represent the number of levels that have been identified empirically as well as theoretically.

Specific recommendations regarding the descriptor levels for writing are to: (a) articulate features of the overarching ranges (novice, intermediate, and advanced) within which more specific descriptors for each range will fall; and (b)

refine the middle and advanced levels. Creating a list of features for these overarching ranges will help with both articulation and curriculum development by simplifying the comparisons between ranges and levels among schools. It will also be easier for users to determine initially which broad range a student or his/her performance falls into; the next step would be to assign a level within that range to the student or the performance.

Attention should also be focused on delineating the differences between levels within a given range, especially with the intermediate and advanced ranges. The intermediate descriptors were problematic for the subcommittee members, the end users, and even for the experts who attempted to articulate their own levels and distinguishing features. Addressing problems described below with the organization and language of the descriptors should facilitate these improvements.

Descriptor content: organization and language. While end users and the subcommittee members were able to reach a surprising level of agreement on assigning six of the fourteen papers to descriptor levels, there were numerous problems assigning the other eight. These problems, along with specific comments made by participants in this study, have led to the following conclusions:

1. More specificity is needed in the descriptors.

Users felt the descriptors often lack specificity in important areas such as grammar, and organization and development. Not only did end users and subcommittee members point to problems with organization and grammar, the comparison of the expert groups' lists of features to the descriptors indicated that organization is a major weakness. Other descriptor specificity issues are the need to define more clearly what is meant by terms, such as *personal*, *concrete*, and *writing skill* at the low and high ranges, and the need to clarify why certain features appear at some levels and disappear at others (e.g., *writing skill* appears only in the low and high levels, not in the mid levels). Attention to topic or task is a major issue that should be addressed in descriptor revisions. Features that describe a student's level of communicative success are also missing at the intermediate range.

2. Descriptors should describe more and quantify less.

The subcommittee and end users had difficulty placing writing samples into descriptor levels when features in the descriptors were quantified. Particularly in the intermediate range, features of the category *organization* tend to be quantified which makes it more difficult for users to distinguish between levels. The frequent use of quantifiers in the descriptors is likely due in part to the notion of a proficiency continuum which underlies the descriptors. A continuum approach to describing language proficiency may lend itself to a focus on the increase or decrease of observable features, but when the goal is to identify and describe specific points on the continuum, as with the descriptors in this study, referencing more or less of a feature is not sufficient for effective descriptor application. Indeed, end users felt they needed definitions for terms that quantify such as *few* and *some*. The meaning of these terms can be subjective and could thus lead to low reliability in the application of descriptors that include them. However, when features are described, descriptor users have something concrete to look for in a sample.

3. An approach to weighting the language features within the descriptors needs to be specified.

Finally, a determination must be made as to whether the language features within each descriptor should be viewed holistically, and thereby be considered as having equal weight in the application of the descriptor, or whether they should be prioritized within the descriptors. Some features seem to be more important than others in defining specific levels which suggests that an approach which prioritizes the features in some way for purposes of application may be the most appropriate.

Next Steps in the Validation of the Writing Descriptors

Although considerable progress has been made towards validation of the writing descriptors, feedback from the current study, including the need for two orientations for their use—single sample and multiple sample—dictates that the descriptors be modified before validation can be completed. Indeed it seems clear that two sets of writing descriptors are needed to meet the range of needs articulated thus far. The content of the sets would be similar but would vary on specific points such as addressing a topic in a single sample versus demonstrating awareness of audience and purpose across multiple samples from the same writer. The features specified in the two sets of descriptors would be

complementary, differing only to the extent necessary to accommodate the two orientations for descriptor uses.

The procedures for continued validation would be the same for both sets with the exception of an additional step for the multiple-sample descriptors. A brief discussion of the steps to complete the validation process for the two sets of writing descriptors follows, concluding with a summary of the steps at the end of the section.

Validation of single-sample descriptors. To validate the descriptors for use with single samples, such as in placement test development, the descriptors must first be modified. The experts' sets of features and suggestions from this study for clarification of the language and reorganization of the descriptor features can be used in this step. Since the descriptors would be oriented towards single-sample use, features that would require more than one sample such as "can write on a range of topics" must be removed or adapted.

Once the descriptors have been modified, guidelines for the use of the descriptors should be drafted. A small group of ESL writing experts (two from each of the four segments) would then place writing samples into the descriptor levels using the modified descriptors and guidelines. If necessary, further modifications should be made to the descriptors and guidelines based on the results from the ESL writing experts. Next a small-scale user tryout (three users per segment) would be conducted with the writing samples and guidelines used by the experts. This step will inform any final modifications to the descriptors and the guidelines. Finally, a large-scale user tryout (ten users per segment) would conclude the validation.

Validation of multiple-sample descriptors. To validate the descriptors for uses that require multiple samples of student work such as curriculum development, classroom assessment, and promotion or exit assessment, a variety of sample types from the same writer or portfolios must be collected. Experts would then review the samples, sort the collections of samples into levels, and characterize the language features that describe the writers' range of abilities at each level. These empirically-derived features would be compared to the original descriptors to refine their usefulness with multiple samples. Guidelines for using the descriptors should then be drafted.

Next an expert tryout using the revised descriptors and guidelines and a new batch of writing samples or portfolios would be carried out. Modifications should be made as needed. As with the single-sample descriptor validation, a small-scale user tryout, possibly followed by final modifications of the descriptors and guidelines, and a large-scale user tryout would conclude the validation.

The suggested steps for the continued validation of the writing descriptors are summarized in the list below.

- Determine uses: Articulate uses for which the descriptors will be validated.
- Modify descriptors: Modify descriptors for single-sample uses based on the empirically-derived features from the current study. Descriptors can be modified for multiple-sample uses after the two steps described below have been carried out.
- Sample collection: Collect samples as appropriate for intended uses of descriptors. Some unused single samples are already available from 1997-1998 work; however, additional samples may be needed at the higher ranges of ability since few of the samples, even from the mainstream English classes, fall into the Advanced High, Superior, or Distinguished categories.⁴ Multiple samples of a range of types from the same students or a portfolio, if available, will also be needed if validating the descriptors for uses involving multiple samples.
- Extra steps for multiple-sample uses: ESL writing experts review the collection of samples for each student, sort the collections into levels, and characterize the language features that describe the writer's range of abilities at each level. These empirically-derived features would then be compared to the original descriptors and modifications made as warranted.
- Descriptor guidelines: Draft guidelines for use of the descriptors. For single-sample uses, it will be important to select anchor papers from the current work.
- Expert tryout with descriptors and guidelines: ESL writing experts place writing samples into levels using the modified descriptors and guidelines (8 experts, 2 from each segment). Refine modified descriptors and guidelines as warranted following use by experts.

⁴ Additional writing samples across segments and proficiency levels should be collected on one or two new topics to ensure that the descriptors can be applied effectively regardless of topic.

- Small-scale user tryout: Conduct small-scale user tryout (12 users, 3 per segment). Make final revisions to descriptors and guidelines based on feedback from users.
- Large-scale user validation tryout: Conduct large-scale user tryout with final version of the descriptors and user guidelines (40 users, 10 per segment).

Validation of the Speaking Descriptors

To validate the speaking descriptors, the uses for which the descriptors will be validated must be clarified (e.g., test development, curriculum, classroom applications) and the descriptors modified accordingly based on empirical evidence. For example, if they are to be validated for uses that involve a single sample of student performance, the language of the descriptors should focus on describing features found in a single sample (e.g., addressing the topic) as opposed to multiple samples (e.g., adjusting to different audiences). As they are currently written, multiple samples of student work are needed to use the descriptors for all the skill areas.

Whether the descriptors are validated for use to evaluate a single sample or to characterize the ability of an ESL student, the validation process would ideally include classroom observations leading to the identification of typical oral tasks. Tasks would be selected for their potential in eliciting a range of performance from students in all four segments. The most promising tasks would then be piloted for use in the validation. The best tasks should be selected from the tryout and adapted if necessary for the larger data collection efforts. Data should be collected on tape from a range of proficiency levels across the four segments. However, since the data collection for this skill area will be more time consuming than for writing, it is likely that fewer samples will be collected. If the descriptors are to be validated for uses that involve multiple samples, samples from the same speaker, across tasks, must be collected and then later sorted by experts. This could be done either in one sitting or across time.

After the data are collected, steps similar to those in the writing validation can be followed. First an expert sort should be conducted during which ESL oral language experts articulate the features of the samples that they have sorted into levels. This step should be followed by a comparison of the features identified by the experts to the speaking descriptors; modifications of the descriptors based upon the results should be carried out. Guidelines for use should be drafted, and

then a new set of samples assigned to levels using the modified descriptors and the guidelines. Modifications as warranted would be made and a small-scale user tryout conducted. Final revisions to the descriptors and guidelines would follow. The final step would be a large-scale tryout with intended descriptor users.

The suggested steps for the validation of the speaking descriptors are summarized in the list below.

- Determine uses: Determine uses for which the descriptors will be validated.
- Identify tasks to be used in the validation: Conduct classroom observations to identify typical oral tasks and select potential tasks to pilot. Conduct tryouts of promising tasks and select tasks that elicit the best speech samples for the larger data collection effort.
- Sample collection: Collect speech samples across the range of proficiency levels and across all four segments.
- Expert sort: Conduct expert sort to empirically derive features. Special equipment issues must be addressed when planning this stage, such as the possible need for a language lab, cassette players with earphones, etc. Compare results of sort to the original descriptors and modify as necessary.
- Descriptor guidelines: Draft guidelines for use of the descriptors.
- Expert tryout using descriptors and guidelines: A new set of samples should be assigned to levels by a different group of speaking experts using the modified descriptors and guidelines. The descriptors and guidelines should be modified as warranted following use by experts.
- Small-scale user tryout: Conduct small-scale user tryout. Make final revisions to descriptors and guidelines based on feedback from users.
- Large-scale user validation tryout: Conduct large-scale user tryout with final version of the descriptors and user guidelines.

Validation of the Listening and Reading Descriptors

The procedures for validating the listening and reading descriptors would differ from the validation process described for speaking and writing because ability in these skill areas can best be captured indirectly. The validation procedure will involve establishing an empirical basis for the descriptors by

examining what kinds of listening or reading tasks students can and cannot perform, anchoring the descriptors with level-specific composites of features of performance, and finally validating the descriptors.

First, as with the writing and speaking descriptors, the purposes for which the descriptors will be used must be clarified. The orientation of the descriptors towards either describing student performance through a single event or across multiple events will dictate the types of composites constructed and modifications to the descriptors. Either way, a variety of listening and reading tasks from all four segments across a range of difficulty, including both ESL and mainstream classes, should be identified, ideally through classroom observations. At the same time, a teacher survey would be conducted in which teachers from those classes are asked to identify and categorize typical listening and reading tasks according to difficulty. They would also be asked to identify level-specific features of performance within tasks.

Using the list of identified task types, students would be interviewed about the difficulty of the tasks and asked to indicate which tasks they can and cannot perform. Next student test scores would be obtained for the students interviewed to cross check their interview responses regarding task difficulty. In an ideal situation, available tests for listening and reading would be analyzed, selected, and administered by researchers conducting the study.

Then, through review of available sources—analyses of the tasks, teacher surveys, student interviews, student test scores, and test analysis data—listening and reading experts from each segment would identify features for the range of proficiency levels present in the data. These results would be compared to the existing listening and reading descriptors. The descriptors would be modified on the basis of these comparisons and the composites of the level-specific features of performance would anchor each descriptor level.

Suggested steps for anchoring the listening and reading descriptors are listed below.

- Determine uses: Determine how the descriptors will be used.
- Identify tasks: Conduct classroom observations to identify typical listening and reading tasks.

- Identify task difficulty—teacher perspective: Obtain teacher feedback regarding typical performance levels on tasks and characterization of the tasks in terms of difficulty.
- Identify task difficulty—student perspective: Conduct student interviews regarding difficulty of tasks.
- Select listening and reading tests: Choose tests that include tasks identified as relevant through the classroom observations.
- Collect and analyze data: Administer test to students and analyze scores. Analyses of the tasks should also be compiled.
- Anchor the descriptors to composites: Listening and reading experts will build composites of level-specific performance features based on task analyses, teacher surveys regarding tasks, analyses of student interviews, test scores, and test analysis data. The composites will be compared to the existing descriptors. Modifications will be made on the basis of these comparisons, and the composites will anchor the descriptors.
- Descriptor guidelines: Prepare guidelines for use of the descriptors.

Alternative Data Collection Methods

Since the validation methods suggested in this report can be time consuming and expensive, alternative data collection methods or validation approaches should be considered. For example, although the skills are defined in isolation from one another in the descriptors, it may still be possible to use an integrated skills approach to collect data. The collection of reading and speaking data could be combined, i.e., students could complete a series of reading tasks followed by short controlled speaking tasks based on the reading with an interviewer or another student. These data would be recorded and procedures similar to the ones outlined in the preceding section could be followed. Another approach to collecting data would involve identification of a range of multi-skills classrooms across the state that would agree to participate in the validation study for an entire quarter or semester. Data for all skills, in addition to task and student information, could be collected in these classrooms and compiled for use during expert sorts.

Descriptor Handbook

After a final validation has been carried out for the writing descriptors and descriptors for the other skill areas, the revised descriptors should be released with the guidelines for their use in a Descriptor Handbook. The descriptor handbook would function as both a user guide and training handbook for inexperienced users and would ensure more valid application of the descriptors. The Handbook would explain appropriate situations for descriptor use and procedures for their application. It should also include samples of student work that anchor each descriptor level.

Final Comments

This validation study has raised many important issues regarding use of the writing descriptors. It has also helped to pinpoint problem areas in the language and organization of the descriptors. Based on the results of the study, suggestions for next steps have been made which include key decisions about the purposes for which the descriptors will be validated and specific areas in the descriptors that require modification.

This study has also resulted in the development of a process which can be applied to the final validation of the writing descriptors or adapted for the validation of descriptors from the other skill areas. Whichever approaches to validation are used, a critical first step in the continuation of this work will be clear specification of descriptor uses. Once a validation process has been carried out for a specific use, caveats should be issued with the release of the validated descriptors emphasizing that the descriptors have only been validated for that use and may not be valid for others. Guidelines for use, along with anchor papers or language samples, must be linked to the validated descriptors. These steps may not prevent incorrect or inappropriate use of the descriptors, but they will help to inform those for whom the descriptors are intended.

References

- Butler, F. B., & Stevens, R. (1997, September). *Validation plan for the second language proficiency descriptors for public high schools, colleges, and universities in California*. Center for the Study of Evaluation, Graduate School of Education & Information Studies, University of California, Los Angeles.
- Mlynarczyk, R. (1991, Autumn). Is there a difference between personal and academic writing? *TESOL Journal*, 1(1), 17-20.
- Upshur, J. A., & Turner, C. E. (1995, January). Constructing rating scales for second language tests. *ELT Journal*, 49(1), 3-12.

Appendix A

Working Group Members 1997-1998

Gari Browning, Project Director
Coordinator, Institutional Research
Orange Coast College

Donna Brinton
Academic Coordinator, ESL Services Courses
University of California at Los Angeles

Roberta Ching
ESL Coordinator, Learning Skills Center
California State University, Sacramento

Robert Dees
President, English Council of California & Two-year Colleges
Dean, Literature & Languages, Orange Coast College

Susan Dunlap
Program Assistant, Bilingual/ELD Staff Development
West Contra Costa Unified School District

Melinda Erickson
Lecturer, College Writing Programs
University of California at Berkeley

Katheryn Garlow
Past President, California Teachers of English
to Speakers of Other Languages
Associate Professor in English in a Second Language
Palomar College

Margaret Manson
Dean of Instruction
Orange Campus
Rancho Santiago College

Deborah Poole
Coordinator, ESL Writing Courses
San Diego State University

Linda Sasser
Secondary ESL Program Specialist
Alhambra School District

Appendix B

End-user Interview Participants: Job Titles and Schools

CSU Bakersfield
Director of the Writing Program

CSU Northridge
Professor, English Department

James Monroe High School
Bilingual Site Coordinator

Palomar College (CC)
Counselor

Pinole Valley High School
ESL Department Chairperson

Santiago Canyon College (CC)
Director of Student Services

UC Berkeley
Career Guidance Counselor

UC Berkeley
Assistant Director
Graduate School Instructor Teaching and Resource Center

UCLA
Associate Director
Undergraduate Admissions and Relations with Schools

Appendix C

End-user Interview Protocol

General Introductory Questions

- 1) Have you heard of the document called California Pathways? *If no, explain briefly. If yes, ask if the person is using it and for what purpose.*
- 2) As part of your responsibilities, how often do you work with students who speak English as a second language?
- 3) What kinds of decision-making responsibilities do you have regarding ESL students?
- 4) How does your institution identify ESL students? *What assessment do they use, if any?*
- 5) What support services does your institution provide to ESL students?

Placement

- 6) If you place ESL students, how do you place them? *If no, do you know who is responsible for placing them?*
- 7) Are there any problems at your school regarding student placement?

Guidance

- 8) If you provide guidance to ESL students, what kinds of information about ESL students would be useful to you? *If no, do you know someone who does provide guidance or counseling to ESL students?*
- 9) When providing guidance to ESL students who plan to transfer to another college (or go on to college from high school), do you encounter any problems (such as not being able to link coursework at one school to course requirements at another school)?

Assessment/judgments of student proficiency

- 10) Do you make judgments about students' English proficiency? *If so, which skill (s) do you make those judgments about? If not, who at your institution makes these types of judgments?*
- 11) On what basis do you make those judgments?

Faculty issues

- 12) Do you interact with faculty who work with ESL students?
- 13) If faculty need to make recommendations or judgments regarding ESL students, do you know how they do that (on what basis)?

Descriptor questions

- 14) If you had a tool or instrument that you could use to judge or discuss ESL student proficiency levels, how many levels of proficiency do you think you would use (or need)? *How specific would you need it to be?*
- 15) Would it be useful to you to have a set of language descriptors for student proficiency levels in reading, writing, speaking, and listening? *How would you use them? If no, can you think of anyone who could use them?*
- 16) Would you use all the skill areas (reading, writing, speaking, listening)? *Which ones would be most important to you?*
- 17) Can you think of any other issues regarding ESL students that you feel could be addressed by having a set of language proficiency descriptors (e.g., curriculum development, articulation between different campuses)? *Write in any misc. comments from interview.*
- 18) *What are some problems ESL students have at your institution?*
- 19) *What are some problems at your institution regarding ESL students?*

Language Features for Levels Identified through ESL Writing Expert Sort for Groups 1 and 2

The category headings (in *italics*) were generated by CSE staff to systematize features across the two groups.

LOW

- *Communicative success*: Some intelligible sentences
- *L1*: Uses primary language, syntax may reflect primary language
- *Length*: Words to sentences, fragments, phrases
- *Literacy*: May not show grasp of sound/symbol correspondence
- *Mechanics*: Errors in mechanics
- *Organization*: Some attempt at development, topic sentence and cohesive paragraph level writing, awareness of topic
- *Structure*: Errors in grammar, simple sentences, no complex sentences
- *Vocabulary*: Key vocabulary, inventive spelling

(1) Low Low - *Communicative success:* May be unintelligible
Length: Very brief; may be few if any clauses, sentences; an attempt at words
Organization: Pre-paragraph, lacks evidence of paragraph

(2) Low Mid - *Communicative success:* Errors impede understanding
LI: May have LI influence
Length: Scattered sentences, pre-paragraph
Mechanics: Mechanical errors (e.g., spelling, margins, punctuation)
Organization: Little or no evidence of organization, awareness of topic, may be on topic
Structure: Simple sentences, emerging syntax, boundaries may be unclear; many distracting errors in grammar, grammar limited
Vocabulary: Many distracting lexical errors, very limited

Expert Group 1 language features (continued)

- (3) Low High -**
- Communicative success:* Errors interfere with understanding
 - Length:* Paragraph, pre-composition
 - Mechanics:* Many mechanical errors that impede understanding
 - Organization:* Clear, but possibly limited grouping of ideas, no topic sentences appear
 - Structure:* Frequent syntactic errors; many grammatical errors that impede understanding
 - Vocabulary:* Limited vocabulary, errors in use

MID

- *Length:* Multiple paragraphs
- *Organization:* Shows evidence of organization and development of theme/topic, attempt at or some general supporting examples (e.g., facts, details, incidents), topic sentences, able to apply conventions of an essay
- *Structure:* General control of basic sentences (has subject/verb), attempts complex sentences with limited success
- *Vocabulary:* Shows expanding vocabulary and alternate word choice, demonstrates and experiments

- (4) Mid Low -**
- Communicative success:* Expresses self despite vocabulary limitations
 - Length:* Multiple paragraphs
 - Organization:* Most development relevant to topic, may have topic sentence, paragraph unity clear with awareness of topic; development-some details and facts that may not be tied to topic; explicit control of organization
 - Structure:* Controls basic sentence patterns, may attempt complex sentences (e.g., adjective clauses, parallel structures), awareness of form
 - Vocabulary:* Limitations in vocabulary

- (5) Mid Mid -**
- Communicative success:* Local and global grammatical errors exist but do not prevent comprehension, wordiness or redundancy [evidence of circumlocution]
 - Organization:* Clear organization, ideas clearly expressed, support present and varied but may be limited or general
 - Structure:* Sentence variety, controls simple sentence structure, some control of complex and multi-clausal sentences; not many grammatical form errors (e.g., -ing instead of -ed in verbs, gerunds for infinitives), local and global grammatical errors but may be fewer
 - Vocabulary:* Limited vocabulary may result in repetitiveness

- (6?) Mid High -**
- (The group was not sure about this level; no papers were actually placed here. There were only “fence sitters.”)
 - Communicative success:* Numerous errors occur but tend to be localized; innovative
 - Organization:* Organization good, apparent analysis, emerging focus, development good but may be superficial or general, many relevant examples
 - Structure:* Variety of sentence patterns though there may be some repetitiveness

Expert Group 1 language features (continued)

HIGH

- *Communicative success*: Sophistication of errors high, minimal distracting language errors; fluent
- *Mechanics*: Control of mechanics
- *Organization*: Focused, well organized and developed, ample and relevant specific support/examples
- *Structure*: Good syntax, variety of sentence structure with good subordination and transitions; control of grammar and structure
- *Vocabulary*: Appropriate word choice (synonyms and nuances) and use of idiomatic language

(7) High Low - *Communicative success*: Less ambitious, non-distracting errors
Organization: Unified or organized and developed, addresses topic but focus may drift, elaboration of ideas present
Structure: Variety of sentences, errors in syntax (ESL markers) but not distracting; verb tenses mastered (few errors)
Vocabulary: Variety of vocabulary, limited/controlled use of vocabulary, not distracting despite some ESL markers

(8) High Mid - *Communicative success*: Variability, engagement, “flair”, takes risks, apparent effort to use sophisticated thought, ESL markers (sentence/mechanics)
Mechanics: ESL markers in spelling and mechanics
Organization: Easy to follow, well organized and focused, fluid, not choppy, has transitions, readable
Structure: Apparent effort to use complex syntax (conjunction, subordination), ESL markers
Vocabulary: Expanded vocabulary, high level vocabulary appears, apparent effort to use sophisticated lexicon (e.g., synonyms, nuances, and idiomatic language), ESL markers (esp. spelling)

(8/9) High High - *Communicative success*: A few minor local errors like a NS might make, no errors that impact meaning, no ESL markers (approaches NS, NS-like)
Mechanics: Controls mechanics, some NS-like errors in spelling and mechanics
Organization: Well developed, focus tight with specifics and examples
Structure: Controls grammar, sentence structure
Vocabulary: Controls vocabulary, idioms

Level Characteristics in Writing Samples
Expert Group 2
Topic B: Discuss Two People

LOW

- *Length:* Short, .69 pages typical length for B papers, .66 for A papers
- *Organization:* Undeveloped
- *Structure:* Coordination, simple syntax—does not attempt anything beyond, tangled syntax, high degree of error in syntax
- *Vocabulary:* Simple/inaccurate vocabulary

(1) Low Low: *Communicative success:* Incomprehensible, attempted to respond
Organization: May not respond to or develop topic at all

(2) Low Mid: *Communicative success:* Uneven comprehensibility
Organization: Emergent paragraph structure, beginnings of relevant ideas present that could be developed

(3) Low High: *Communicative success:* Minimally comprehensible
Organization: Emergent essay structure, may attempt specific examples

MID

- *Communicative success:* Frequent errors
- *Length:* 1.98 pages typical length for B paper, 1.71 for A papers
- *Organization:* Aware of essay structure, some organization, stays on topic most of the time
- *Structure:* May lack cohesion (choppy), ideas not linked
- *Vocabulary:* Limited (colloquial, unsophisticated) vocabulary

(4) Mid Low: *Communicative success:* Errors interfere with comprehension
Organization: Examples present but not integrated, tendency to lose focus
Structure: Errors in syntax (often interfere with comprehension)
Vocabulary: Errors in vocabulary (often interfere with comprehension)

(5?) Mid Mid: (The group was unsure that this level exists. They added it after reading the second batch of papers from Group 1 and had not finished articulating the features.)

Communicative success: Errors sometimes interfere with comprehension
Organization: May lose focus, examples tend to remain general and are not necessarily integrated

(6) Mid High: *Communicative success:* Errors in syntax and vocabulary rarely interfere with comprehension
Organization: Examples better integrated into essay, usually consistent in focus
Structure: Errors in syntax (rarely interfere)
Vocabulary: Errors in vocabulary (rarely interfere)

Expert Group 2 language features (continued)

HIGH

- *Communicative success*: Engages reader, thoughtful, errors do not obscure meaning
- *Length*: 2.35 pages typical length of B papers, 2.3 for A papers
- *Structure*: Occasional errors in syntax that do not obscure meaning
- *Vocabulary*: Occasional vocabulary errors that do not obscure meaning

(7) High Low: *Communicative success*: Ambitious
 Organization: Minor inconsistencies in focus, examples occasionally not fully developed
 Structure: Ambitious syntax, may be misused; minor structure problems
 Vocabulary: Ambitious vocabulary, may be misspelled or misused

(8) High High: *Communicative success*: High reader engagement
 Length: 2.5+ pages
 Organization: Compelling examples, well-drafted essay, flows, extensive development, clear consistent focus, clear voice (writes with authority)
 Structure: Transitions-ideas clearly linked, transparent structure, native-like syntax, varied and complex

Appendix E

Second Language Proficiency Descriptors

Writing

Reorganized Versions

NOVICE-LOW

- Length: Is sometimes able to write isolated words and/or common phrases
- Writing skill: Has little or no practical writing skills in English

NOVICE-MID

- Length: Can write some familiar numbers, letters, and words
- Literacy: Demonstrates limited awareness of sound/letter correspondence
- Mechanics: Demonstrates limited awareness of mechanics
- Topics/tasks: Can fill in a simple form with basic biographical information
- Writing skill: Has minimal practical writing skill in English

NOVICE-HIGH

- Communicative success: Has limited independent expression
- Length: Can produce sentences and short phrases which have been previously learned
- Literacy: Demonstrates some awareness of sound/letter correspondence
- Mechanics: Demonstrates some awareness of mechanics
- Structure: Uses simple sentence structure, often characterized by errors
- Vocabulary: Uses simple vocabulary, often characterized by errors
- Writing skill: Has some practical writing skill in English

INTERMEDIATE-LOW

- Length: Can write original short texts using familiar vocabulary and structures
- Mechanics: Often exhibits a lack of control over punctuation and spelling
- Organization: Demonstrates some evidence of organizational ability
- Structure: Often exhibits a lack of control over grammar; can write original short texts using familiar structures
- Topics/tasks: Can write on some concrete and familiar topics
- Vocabulary: Often exhibits a lack of control over vocabulary; can write original short texts using familiar vocabulary

INTERMEDIATE-MID

- Mechanics: Demonstrates limited control of punctuation to indicate sentence boundaries
- Organization: Is able to organize and provide some support
- Structure: Demonstrates limited control of sentence structure
- Topics/tasks: Can write on a variety of concrete and familiar topics
- Vocabulary: Often uses inappropriate vocabulary or word forms

INTERMEDIATE-HIGH

- Mechanics: Displays some control of punctuation to indicate sentence boundaries, but often makes errors
- Organization: Shows some ability to write organized and developed text
- Structure: Uses some cohesive devices appropriately; displays some control of sentence structure, but often makes errors
- Topics/tasks: Can write about topics relating to personal interests and special fields of competence
- Vocabulary: Sometimes uses inappropriate vocabulary and word forms

ADVANCED

- Communicative success: Errors rarely interfere with communication
- Mechanics: Makes some errors in punctuation (but they rarely interfere with communication)
- Organization: Displays clear organization and development; displays an awareness of audience and purpose; demonstrates an ability to integrate source material
- Structure: Uses cohesive devices effectively; controls most kinds of sentence structure; makes some errors in grammar (but they rarely interfere with communication)
- Topics/tasks: Can write effectively about a variety of topics, both concrete and abstract
- Vocabulary: Makes some errors in vocabulary (but they rarely interfere with communication)

ADVANCED-HIGH

- Communicative success: Makes some errors that do not interfere with effective communication
- Mechanics: Makes some errors in punctuation (but they do not interfere with effective communication)
- Organization: Displays rhetorically effective organization and development; demonstrates an ability to tailor writing to purpose and audience; demonstrates some ability to integrate source material
- Structure: Uses a range of cohesive devices effectively; uses a variety of sentence structures for stylistic purposes; makes some errors in grammar (but they do not interfere with effective communication)
- Topics/tasks: Can write about a variety of topics, both concrete and abstract, with precision and detail
- Vocabulary: Makes some errors in vocabulary, but they do not interfere with effective communication

SUPERIOR

- Communicative success: Makes only minor or occasional errors, but they do not interfere with communication
- Organization: Displays strong organization and presents hypotheses, arguments, and points of view effectively; consistently tailors writing to purpose and audience; displays control of the conventions of a variety of writing types; can incorporate a variety of source material effectively, using appropriate academic and linguistic conventions
- Structure: Employs a variety of stylistic devices
- Topics/tasks: Writes effectively for formal and informal occasions, including writing on practical, social, academic, and professional topics

DISTINGUISHED

- Organization: Can tailor writing to match specific purpose and audience
- Structure: Employs stylistic variation and a wide variety of sentence structure
- Topics/tasks: Writes effectively on virtually any topic
- Vocabulary: Employs sophisticated vocabulary
- Writing skill: Has writing skills essentially indistinguishable from those of a sophisticated, educated native speaker; fully commands the nuances of the language

Appendix F

Second Language Proficiency Descriptors

Writing

Original version

NOVICE-LOW

- has little or no practical writing skills in English
- is sometimes able to write isolated words and/or common phrases

NOVICE-MID

- has minimal practical writing skill in English
- demonstrates limited awareness of sound/letter correspondence and mechanics
- can write some familiar numbers, letters, and words
- can fill in a simple form with basic biographical information

NOVICE-HIGH

- has some practical writing skill in English
- has limited independent expression
- demonstrates some awareness of sound/letter correspondence and mechanics
- can produce sentences and short phrases which have been previously learned
- uses simple vocabulary and sentence structure, often characterized by errors

INTERMEDIATE-LOW

- can write on some concrete and familiar topics
- can write original short texts using familiar vocabulary and structures
- often exhibits a lack of control over grammar, vocabulary, punctuation, and spelling
- demonstrates some evidence of organizational ability

INTERMEDIATE-MID

- can write on a variety of concrete and familiar topics
- is able to organize and provide some support
- demonstrates limited control of sentence structure and punctuation to indicate sentence boundaries
- often uses inappropriate vocabulary or word forms

INTERMEDIATE-HIGH

- can write about topics relating to personal interests and special fields of competence
- shows some ability to write organized and developed text
- uses some cohesive devices appropriately
- displays some control of sentence structure and punctuation to indicate sentence boundaries, but often makes errors
- sometimes uses inappropriate vocabulary and word forms

Second Language Proficiency Writing Descriptors, original version (continued)

ADVANCED

- can write effectively about a variety of topics, both concrete and abstract
- displays clear organization and development
- displays an awareness of audience and purpose
- uses cohesive devices effectively
- demonstrates an ability to integrate source material
- controls most kinds of sentence structure
- makes some errors in grammar, vocabulary, and punctuation, but they rarely interfere with communication

ADVANCED-HIGH

- can write about a variety of topics, both concrete and abstract, with precision and detail
- displays rhetorically effective organization and development
- demonstrates an ability to tailor writing to purpose and audience
- uses a range of cohesive devices effectively
- demonstrates some ability to integrate source material
- uses a variety of sentence structures for stylistic purposes
- makes some errors in grammar, vocabulary, and punctuation, but they do not interfere with effective communication

SUPERIOR

- writes effectively for formal and informal occasions, including writing on practical, social, academic, and professional topics
- displays strong organization and presents hypotheses, arguments, and points of view effectively
- consistently tailors writing to purpose and audience
- displays control of the conventions of a variety of writing types
- employs a variety of stylistic devices
- can incorporate a variety of source material effectively, using appropriate academic and linguistic conventions
- makes only minor or occasional errors, but they do not interfere with communication

DISTINGUISHED

- writes effectively on virtually any topic
- employs stylistic variation, sophisticated vocabulary, and a wide variety of sentence structure
- can tailor writing to match specific purpose and audience
- fully commands the nuances of the language
- has writing skills essentially indistinguishable from those of a sophisticated, educated native speaker

Appendix G

End-user Sort Participant Questionnaire

Name: _____

School: _____

Department: _____

Job Title: _____

- 1) Have you heard of the document *California Pathways*? If yes, what is your experience or familiarity with it? Have you used the descriptors before?
- 2) As part of your job responsibilities, how often do you work with ESL students?
- 3) What kinds of decision-making responsibilities do you have regarding ESL students?
- 4) How might you envision these descriptors being used at your institution? Who do you think would or should use them?
- 5) Would it be useful to have a set of language descriptors for student proficiency levels in other skills areas, such as reading, speaking, and listening? If yes, how do you think they would be used and by whom?
- 6) Were the descriptors easy or difficult for you to use?

Appendix H

Descriptor Worksheet

Paper No.	Descriptor Level	Comment on using the writing descriptors with each paper.
082		
106		
226		
246		
306		
330		
426		
486		
502		
562		
586		
674		
762		
840		

Appendix I

Writing Samples

The following fourteen writing samples were used in the expert, the working group subcommittee, and the expert and non-expert end-user sorts.

Topic B: Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

Below is a list of the papers which indicates the segment from which each paper came. Seven of the fourteen papers were identified as exemplars by Group 2. The group's comments about the seven papers are included.

Paper Number	Segment	Comments from Group 2
082 LM exemplar	UC	Beginnings of relevant ideas
106	UC	
226	HS	
246	HS	
306	CC	
330 LH exemplar	CC	Attempts specific examples
426	CSU	
486	CSU	
502 HL exemplar	CSU	No conclusion, but fairly well-developed examples
562 LL exemplar	UC	Quotes prompt
586 HL exemplar	UC	One well developed example; clear focus; mechanical form; sentence-level problems that keep it from HH
674 LH exemplar	HS	Emerging essay structure
762	CC	
840 HH exemplar	CC	Strong; selected because it has ESL markers

UCLA Center for the Study of Evaluation, Writing Project

Name: _____

Date: 4-8-95

Booklet No. 082

School: _____

Class: _____

Teacher: _____

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

Teenagers And Problems.

one of the most important subject at this time are teenagers. They will make world and life for themselves and us. They are young and hot. They are growing quickly, but just about body not mentally. At this age they have too much feelings without wisdom; and the other hand they think that they know everything.

Date: Apr. 9 98

Booklet No. _____

School: _____

Class: _____

Teacher: _____

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

Teenagers are in the middle point between children and adults, in ~~aspect~~ physical and mental respect. Therefore they undergo a great changes, ~~maybe the biggest change~~ in a life. That changes are sometimes hard to ~~be accepted~~ or someone hard to ~~be followed~~. So they ^{might} make big troublesome, but our society is quite generous to them. Here I want to discuss about some ~~can~~ ~~they~~ difficulties they have.

First, they get a lot of increase in their thought. In some good education condition, they have opportunity to get help ~~to~~ ^{for} balance their thought and behavior. But most of cases they don't. I think drugs, alcohol, or tobacco are typical entice for them. They think they are grown up ~~but~~ so that they can enjoy anything that are permitted in society. But society doesn't allow them to do. Why is there the gap? ~~the~~

The gap ~~is~~ comes from miscommunication or non-communication between them and adults. In our society, parents have ^{the} most responsibility for ~~their~~ these communication. But ~~I don't~~ Parents doesn't look like to play their role ~~at least~~ in most of cases. They ~~also~~ spend hard time ~~in~~ in the society, so that we cannot expect parents ~~to be~~ perfect. I think Schools must have some responsibility for this problem. Schools can be more professional for them. They can make more opportunities for teenagers to discuss with the teachers even ~~with~~ between.

themselves. Some cases are reported that a teacher ~~to~~ deals with their pupils very well to make them grow well. While I hear these cases I thought ~~to~~ in the house, ~~that~~ that kind of education could not be more effective. More good programs and teachers must be ~~be~~ developed.

The other cases are their curiosities. In these case, teenager didn't follow up their society. Typical examples are their gun-usage. I think these problems could not be solved by education or teaching. These cases stems from their ignorance, which is really hard to be understood. We are hard to make them understand social stability, ~~for~~ importance of politics, or influence of economics. These things take time, or ~~sometimes~~ sometimes they cannot understand faster. More effort by society, like mass communication, church, other activities can ~~be~~ only help them to overcome these problems.

Most of difficulties are from these two cases, follow-up too fast and not-follow up. ~~The communication level~~

UCLA Center for the Study of Evaluation, Writing Project

Name: _____

226

Date: 4-27-98

Booklet No. _____

School: _____

Class: _____

Teacher: _____

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

I'm an ESL student in Pinaloallas High School. Because ~~a~~ I am an international student, you'll probably notice that my view of the problems are somehow different from yours; I do think in a different way after all.

Teenagers here in the United States face many problems when trying to grow up. Their problem is trying to ~~be~~ grow up. They try so hard to become adults that their brains lead them to do things adults do. What their brains lead them to do is what I'll talk about in my essay. I'll ~~talk~~ talk about the dangers they face when making dangerous decisions for their ~~the~~ young lives.

Teenagers in my opinion are old children, not young adults as many people think. If you can see that my view of teenagers is true from their actions. If you have a child, you'll notice that he or she ~~does~~ does almost ~~a~~ always what you ~~want~~ want them to do. If you might sometimes ask ~~the~~ your child to drink milk or brush his teeth, and you always expect that he or she disagrees with you, why? ~~For~~ no one really knows even ~~for~~ themselves. I'm trying to say that

it's something very natural.

When you come to teenagers, you'll find that they do what you want in most cases, but sometimes do things that ~~disappoint~~ disappoint you and themselves. Smoking is a very good example. Why do teenagers smoke? Is it because they really want to smoke, or is it because they want to try something new? No one really knows. ~~But~~ In my opinion, they just try to do what you don't want them to do because they want to look like adults and ~~of~~ ^{act} like adults.

As a conclusion, I want to say that teenagers are ~~a~~ old children. You can see this from their children's actions. They act like children in some way and they want to change this behavior but in their own way. ~~Like~~ Like children, they do ~~a~~ wrong things and wait for the consequences. A ~~the~~ five-year-old child might break a vase and wait for his mother's response, but a teenager ~~goes~~ smokes and wait for the consequences ~~and~~ ^{not} pay his mom, from ~~the~~ his life. A teenager's behavior is ~~the~~ the exact same similar behavior of children.

246

Date: 05 / 05 / 1998

Booklet No. _____

School: [REDACTED]

Class: [REDACTED]

Teacher: [REDACTED]

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

Teenagers: → girls → House → how they treat them
→ School → Dad Friends
→ Street → Involving in Crimes and mistreat
→ themselves → what kind of emotions
that is fighting within
themselves.
→ boys → House → responsibilities.
→ School - Time and work.
→ Street - troubles

~~ST. JAMES'S~~
~~UNIVERSITY~~
~~LIBRARY~~

Teenagers

Teenagers are our candles for the future and our lights in our way to a better future. So we better prepare them for this responsibility and we better treat them right so they can feel good and they can help their society to improve and their country to develop, but if we give them a complete freedom then every thing is going to be out of control. We better be careful how to deal with this subject, and when I first read the main idea of the subject or the mission I found it interesting and I'm going to enjoy my time writing about this subject.

Teenagers face a lot of problems in their life and that is because of different reasons, maybe how people treat them or how they act or.....
as you have experienced before when you were yourself a teenager you can conclude that one of the most important difficulties for teenagers are their families

, most of the adults treat teenagers as they are kids and expect them to act like ~~a~~ adults. ~~How~~ How could that be? Most Parents don't trust their sons or daughters, ~~and~~ don't give them their right ~~and~~ don't try to understand their feelings. Do you know why? Because they don't want to understand anything at all or they can't understand. This may affect ~~at~~ how teenagers feel and they start ~~lose~~ losing their self-confidence and start feeling irresponsible.

Growing up doesn't mean just the increasing of the sex desire or the attraction ~~to~~ to the other kind sex. It also means the growing of ideas, brain, body, feelings, and responsibility. When teenager understands that then they are going to be able to build their own way away from those appeals that try to attract them to it such as drugs, drinking, having sex, and many other things.

Friends are also an important factor to help teenagers to pass this era successfully and vice versa, for example, if you have such a good friend then you will be affected by them and you are going to share them their actions - thoughts, dreams.... and ~~vice versa~~, but when you have bad friends then your attitude is going to be different so bad, so evil.

~~eventually~~ Finally, and the last point is god, every person in this universe not just teenagers has to obey god, respect him, trust him, and pray for him because god gives you the power and the ability to face any difficult that may face you, so first of all return to god, then respect your family, make your ~~best~~ relationships with others better and try try don't you ever ever surrender because you are the future you are still a teenager and you still have a life, still have a hope!!

306

Date: May 11, 1998

Booklet No. _____

School: [REDACTED]

Class: [REDACTED]

Teacher: [REDACTED]

Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

Teenagers often meet some difficulties in their education in school and their future life.

Their ages are too young. They don't have many experiences in their life and their plan to study, to learn about education in school. Some of them won't care about their future, but some other begin to think about it and they begin to worry. Everything is vague, everything is unknown, and unclear. They think

~~the life is hard for them. In school they think what to study and what will be their goal of studying? And about their life they think how to have money for their living?~~

Because of the young age of all teenagers, because of their inexperience, parents need to lead them carefully, educate them and explain anything they need to understand about their future.

Therefore, parents should follow their children, understand them, teach them, explain anything they want to know. Parents talk with them about the plan they have to learn in school, have a good education in family and in school. Always they have to work hard in their learning in school and at home. They should reach their goal in education, have a good degree in University and improve their career when going to work in the future.

In conclusion, I have the idea that the responsibility of parents is

leading their children for their education, their life, and their future, is very important. In return, teenagers should listen all the good ideas from their parents and their instructors in schools, in order to become a good person for their future.

330

Date: 4/30/98

Booklet No. _____

School: _____

Class: _____

Teacher: _____

Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

In this Century, I saw a lot of difficulties about teenagers on there way to grow up. Some of them wanted to be wild, and the others wanted to be tough.

I have a friend who now was winning the game, and once I saw him fought with the other teenagers in the fair ground. We had the same childhood before we came to America. He was sweet and quiet when he was young but now, he is a ~~game~~ wild one. I think ~~the~~ some teenagers are ~~losing~~ ^{their mind} not having enough power to control themselves from following the ~~dark way~~ dark side.

I also saw some teenagers in Sally show were
w/ their own mother, out school and ~~at~~
~~the~~ committed crime

UCLA Center for the Study of Evaluation, Writing Project

Name: _____

426

Date: 5/8/98

Booklet No. _____

School: _____

Class: _____

Teacher: _____

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

The difficulties that ~~teenagers~~ teenagers have ~~are~~ come from mainly the relationship with their parents, friends, and teachers.

Most of teenager feel something stressful ~~with~~ (to their) parents. ~~usually~~ their parents had ~~been~~ the time they were teenager, ^{however,} they seem not to understand their child, even not try. They just tell their children what they want ~~and~~ ~~ask~~ them to be like and push and force them. Of course ~~there are not all~~ all parent ~~are~~ not same. ~~Some~~ Some parents seem to understand their children and let them correct ~~that~~ ^{road}. Badly, however, There is time difference about ~~20~~ for 20 years.

During that time, the ^{society} ~~world~~ round us has ~~been~~ changed a lot, and it has continued forever. Though parents ~~think~~ ~~at~~ themselves think they are very close to their ~~and~~ children and understand everything, they can't understand their ~~own~~ children actually. ~~more~~ more badly, the teenager think it is very burden of their life. They don't think they need ~~some~~ ^{any} suggestions at all, ~~and~~ ~~not~~ They ~~cannot~~ seek something they have never try. There is a big gap between parents and their teenagers, and teenager think it is difficult to live in his style.

The relationship with friends ~~are~~ is the most difficult ~~and~~ problem of them. They can't not live without it, even they do not want. ~~Most~~ Most of teenager ~~are~~ are learning how to

Get along with others in school not family.

~~If one find someone doesn't~~

There are some who one ~~can~~ can not be a friends.

As long as ~~one~~ one is a regular, normal teenager, one should talk to them and be nice. They should learn how to be nice every body and how to built human relationship. Most of time, it ~~will~~ transforms to be one's stress. The teenager know ~~the~~ the relationship build is the most important thing they have, so they absorb their problem ~~each~~ easily each other and have more stressful difficulties in order to keep the good relationship.

The teachers ~~are~~ ~~problem~~ is that the combined difficulties both parents and ~~from~~ friends for teenagers. ~~They~~ They have authority in their life ~~as~~ as their whole world, school. This is a kind of lottery. If student can meet ~~the~~ the teacher who has a good personality, ~~that~~ ~~it~~ hardly happen, this element should be get rid of. ~~Most~~ Most of teachers ~~who~~ who teenager meet at school, however, are mean and selfish. They push their student more than ~~for~~ the parents, of course it is their job, and usually they do not care about how to built a good relationship with their students. Badly they are authority, so that teenager should obey them.

Usually, these three elements make teenagers life difficult.

It is very necessary ~~and~~ to have such difficulties for everyone when they are teenagers. Otherwise, they will be ~~the person who is not~~ one of the person who ~~do not~~ do not communicate ~~to~~ others well.

~~Chhaining~~

486

Date: 4/30/98

Booklet No. _____

School: [REDACTED]

Class: [REDACTED]

Teacher: [REDACTED]

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

In any country ~~at~~ and any society
 to young people is a very important to
 family and society in the future. Our society
 is always pay attention to teenagers, who are
 growing up in a big and various environment.
 What are making them difficult to grow up?
 The problem I are from their parents and their
 environment.

The first problem which makes teenagers
 difficult to growing up because their parents
~~here~~ do not take care them enough. In
 the modern time parents need to work more time
 in order to pay more for living costs. They
 need to learn more to update in their job,
 some parents go to work 2 two or three jobs
 so they don't have enough time to take
 care their children as teenagers. Then
 the teenagers some-times feel lonely and they
 tend to go out with someone else or they
 could learn something from anyone they
 know. But a lot of time they do wrong
 because they didn't have ~~the~~ experiences.
 Teenagers & learned new ^{experiences} the new thing
 by a hard way, which are sometime

make them hurt. For example my neighbor have 2 children. both of parents go to work every day. a ~~girl~~ five years old girls ~~is go~~ ~~be~~ is baby-sit by grand mother. the other girl is teenager. after she come back from school ~~she~~ she just watching the television and movies ~~but~~ because she doesn't have any one to play or to talk with. In the television is always having a lot of various advertising and action movies. She just watches the television but she don't ~~don't~~ understand ~~it~~ but ~~in~~ she has no one to explain. knowing a lot of information but she didn't know which one is good, which one is bad, even she didn't have enough experiences to analyze the matter. It ~~is~~ may ~~make~~ teach her the bad thing more than the good thing. These teenagers are difficult to growing up because some reason from parent and from environment.

Date: 4-28-98

Booklet No. 502

School: [REDACTED]

Class: [REDACTED]

Teacher: [REDACTED]

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

When I was in High School I heard of a true event that made me think of why people do the things we do which we know will lead to no good. What happened was: there was a disagreement between what's now called gangs. Any kind of fighting or criminal activity was forbidden on the school area & so the agreement was to meet in the park & "work out" their differences (~~One of the gangs~~). The members of one of the gangs showed up with at least one ~~fire~~-arm each, there was about 15 guys who had weapons. The members of the opposite group ran away. Fortunately no one was hurt. Everybody who participated in this incident was no more than 20 years old. After hearing this story I thought: Why? Don't we have enough of problems, that we have to kill each other? I understand that we are teenagers & we want to try everything, but should we try Everything?" It's difficult to be a teenager & make the right choices for so many problems. Before puberty our parents made decisions for us, ~~after~~. Being young adult we already learned how to deal with outside world. When we are teens everything comes up & against us, or so

it seems, and so many young people die or change their lives dramatically in this ^{few} years

The biggest problem that teenagers have and/or face are violent gangs. Originally gangs were created by peers, close friends for entertainment, self-support, peer-support or any kind of harmless activity. Teenagers created peer-groups as a way of finding, ~~experimenting~~ experimenting and learning about independence, as a way to come into ~~the~~ society ^{from the family circle} ~~from the family circle~~ as a functioning human being. The activities of the gangs (peer groups) were harmless & were meant to have fun, but ~~as~~ with the time the groups started to compete & disagree. With huge amounts of weapons, readily available on the street the disagreement became more & more violent. Now, we often hear of gang related crime, murder by teens & so forth, that's where we are now.

Another problem ~~we~~ teens face today ~~is~~ is drugs. There are ~~so~~ easily obtainable for any junior-high & high school students. They are sold on & out of school grounds, & anyone who is interested can ~~find~~ find &

~~have~~^{get} them with no problems. The police can't
~~prevent~~^{trick} teens as adults & so ~~you~~ kids-drug
dealers are back on the street & in school
in days if not hours.

Another major problem of present time
~~teenagers~~^{youth} is teenage mothers/parents. I
can't dictate people to lead their lives
as I want them to; but having a baby
in school screws up lives. Baby is a
wonderful thing, but not at this age.
No one wins, not mother, because her
life is changed she can't have education
nor baby because of the mother.

562

Date: 4-27-98

Booklet No. _____

School: _____

Class: _____

Teacher: _____

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

~~Some~~ difficulties that teenagers have growing up are peer pressure ~~and~~ school.

Difficulty that teenagers have growing ^{up} is peer pressure. A group of friends pressure you ^{to} do something that you might not do by yourself. For example, ~~drinking~~ is drinking alcohol and smoking cigarette.

Date: 5/1/98

Booklet No. 586

School: _____

Class: _____

Teacher: _____

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to **think** about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

Every single person experiences some difficulties growing up. Despite the differences in ethnic background, financial status, gender or geography, most teenagers experience some kind of difficulties in the process of becoming adults. In my opinion, the most problem that teenagers have to deal with is pressure, pressure from school, parents, and friends.

The pressure from school can be a tremendous problem for teenagers because maintaining a certain GPA is essential to stay in school. Also, teenagers have to deal with rules and teachers in school. ~~Some teenagers~~ I had a friend who was very talented ~~was~~ in everyday life events like cars. He was interested in everything but studying. As a result, school became a stress to him. Eventually, his attitude toward school drove him to drop out of high school, and he ~~also~~ tried to commit suicide several times due to his inability to cope with schoolwork. To him, school is the number one barrier in growing up.

All parents have expectations for their children.
 Therefore, these high expectations can be very
^{trying to reach}
 stressful and tiring. As a result, parents' expectations
 turn into a kind of invisible pressure. I, for
 example, have been trying endlessly to satisfy my
 parents' expectations, but I have not yet succeed.
 It seemed to me that they always wanted more
 than what I could achieve. I remember ~~II~~ I
 received a score of 1050 on my PSAT in freshman
 year in high school. My father was dissatisfied with
 the score and, ~~de~~ he demanded that I should at
 least get 1100. So I studied hard and received
 a 1120 in my sophomore year. My parents were
 less than contented with the score and, ^{they} encouraged
 me to strive for 1200. In my last attempt
 for SAT, I received a score of ~~ex~~ exactly 1200.
 Surprising, ~~my~~ parents' reactions were not what I
 expected. They thought I should ~~have~~ done better.
~~I can~~ As can be seen, parents is a source of
 pressure to many teenagers

Similarly peer pressure from friends is another ~~a~~ source of pressure that most teenagers have to encounter in growing up. Friends can be a great influences, and not all influences are positive. For example, some friends would ask their peers to smoke, steal, or do drugs. Unfortunately, many teenagers conform to their requests due to their ignorance. By the time they realize their errors, it is probably too late in the sense that they might have already committed some serious crimes. I have a cousin ^{named, Eric} who used to hang out with his nonchalant friends ~~that~~ are not so motivated. Eric ~~was~~ had been a good school boy before he met his friends. After couple months of being with his street friends, Eric became a juvenile delinquent, and he was ~~forced to~~ arrested several times for his stealing and robbery.

Evidently, ~~pressures can be a great source~~ of pressures from school, parents, and friends can be a tremendous difficulty that teenagers encounter in the process of growing up.

UCLA Center for the Study of Evaluation, Writing Project

Name: [REDACTED]

674

Date: 5-9-98

Booklet No. 674

School: [REDACTED]

Class: [REDACTED]

Teacher: [REDACTED]

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

~~XXXXXXXXXX~~

The teenagers have problems with their own families. (for example they) are some fathers that they don't care much of their children's life. The fathers have to work, and the child's try out for first time some drugs that affect their life. Some fathers come out of work later and they don't talk anything with their child's about the problems in the outside. In addition the teenagers made their life much difficult when they have to study. A problem that affects their life is that they did not want to continue studying math for more than two years in high school and that might affect their future. Another problem is that some teachers did not explain you the things that you don't understand and they are afraid to ask for help. A family that help their children with their home work, and told them the things that are good and the things that are wrong,

it ~~going~~ to ~~suces~~ for life and never
are going to have some
problems with them.

762

Date: May - 5 - '98

Booklet No. _____

School: _____

Class: _____

Teacher: _____

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

~~_____~~

with
Falling in love \checkmark stars

Most of people have a memory which is wildly excited in entertainment stars actors, actresses, singers, models when they were teenager. It might be teenagers want to be like them. It is a very natural. On the other hand, it takes away teenagers from real situation. They always think about entertainment and entertainers. I have a nephew who is my sister's son. 2 years ago, I ~~had to~~ ^{had to} take care of him while his parent went on a 2 months long trip. He was an enthusiast of a ~~famous~~ famous singer. He did not study and always think about her. I tried to lead him up, but it was useless. I thought about myself. I was also enthusiast of stars. There is no way to correct him compulsively. I realized that time can make it. However, I had to control and help him to spend his life not too much. This enthusiasm can be changed to study or work. Teenagers are very sensitive and could be twisted easily, so they need much more care and sympathize with their ~~thing~~ thinking.

Date: 5/3/98

Booklet No. _____

840

School: _____

Class: _____

Teacher: _____

*Thank you very much for participating in this research project.
Your help is very important to us.*

Directions: Please read the writing assignment carefully. Take a few moments to think about what you are going to write. Then write the essay. Do the best you can. You will have 45 minutes to write your essay.

Write an essay in which you discuss some difficulties that teenagers have growing up. Explain your opinion and give specific examples.

Teenage problems

Today it is much ~~harder~~ ~~being~~ being a teenager than it was about ten years ago. Teenagers today are faced with many difficulties such as drugs, peer pressure, sex and teenage pregnancy, and violence.

Drugs are a major problem in our teenage society today. It is almost worshipped by teenagers. They see it as a way out of the reality. Some of them use it for fun. They see so many others using drugs that they feel that it is ~~at~~ alright for them to use it too. This is difficult for teenagers because they may feel that they don't have a choice. They don't want to be left out. Their parents might be unaware of the problems their teenagers are going through. Then there are some parents who do not have time to be aware of the drug problems of their children who are faced with

Pay attention to me

Today it is much harder being a teenager than it was ten years ago. It is very unfortunate that teenagers do not get the attention and loving care that deserve during this critical time of their lives. This lack of attention can cause many difficulties for teenagers such as, ~~peer pressure~~ depression, violence, drugs abuse, and teenage pregnancy.

Parents ~~do~~ not spend ~~the~~ time nor give teenagers the attention that they need. They are so busy trying to make ends meet. Many teenagers are being raised by ^a single parent. The teenager might be trying very hard to understand and to deal with the fact that their parent or parents can not spend more time with them. The teenage ~~are~~ years are critical years. A young person is developing an identity, exploring and finding out who they are. Nevertheless there are many pressures from other teenagers and things going on in the world

around them. Most of the times they need someone, anyone, to talk to. When the teenager does not get this love they feel that it's their fault and gets depressed.

When the teenager gets depressed, is when he/she is faced with even more difficulties. They see violence every day on television and real life. They may feel that they need to be violent in order to get some attention. Then they see drugs. Everyone is using some form of drugs. The drugs users seem happy. "Maybe I should try it," the teenager would say, whose to stop them. Drugs are everywhere and in ~~also~~ almost every form. Their parents will not find out they are too busy. If the teenager does not get love from his/her parent they will turn to anybody that is willing to give it to them. Many of the time they don't even know what love is, but don't have anyone to talk to about it, so they grasp that false love. This causes another problem,

Teenage pregnancy. They have unprotected sex and get pregnant with ~~his~~ a child. They may or may not be mentally or financially equipped to take care of it. Not only that they run the risk of getting sexually transmitted diseases. They put their lives on the line. Teenagers start a whole new trend, because what will happen to their kids. Will they get the attention they need and deserve.

Parents all know it's hard but please give your child more attention. It goes a long way. They need it.